IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT)
OF TRANSPORTATION, an agency)
of the State of Florida,)

Petitioner/Appellee,)

vs.)

CLEOPATRA GAYLE ANGLIN and)
THOMAS P. ANGLIN, her husband,)

Respondent/Appellants.)

SEABOARD COAST LINE RAILROAD)
COMPANY,)

Petitioner/Appellee,)

vs.)

CLEOPATRA GAYLE ANGLIN and)
THOMAS P. ANGLIN, her husband,)

Respondent/Appellants.)

APPEAL NO.: AT-276
CASE NO.: 67,599

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 17 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

APPEAL NO.: AT-277
CASE NO.: 67,600

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER/APPELLEE,

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should review the decision by the First District Court of Appeal as the rules of law it announces expressly and directly conflict with rules previously announced by this Court. For one, the First District Court of Appeal has announced that the mere possibility of injury occurring to a person will suffice to impose liability upon a tortfeasor, contrary to specific holdings by this Court and numerous decisions by the other courts of appeal that there must at least be a "probability" of injury before liability will be imposed.

Secondly, the First District Court of Appeal, although claiming to apply the principle of proximate cause as defined in Florida Standard Jury Instruction 5.1, has failed to recognize the significance of that part of proximate cause defined as a "direct, natural and continuous sequence." By ignoring this critical facet of proximate cause, the First District Court of Appeal has applied a principle of law which conflicts with that principle adopted by In re: Standard Jury Instructions, 198 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1967).

These factors demonstrate that this Court should exercise its jurisdictional power granted to it in Article III(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution to accept review of this case in order to resolve this conflict and once again make case law on this subject uniform throughout the state.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OR THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

ARGUMENT

1(a). The decision by the First District Court of Appeal announces a rule of law that conflicts with a rule previously announced by the Supreme Court.

In the last sentence of the majority decision, the First District Court of Appeal, citing Crislip v. Holland, 401 So.2d 1115, 1118 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) stated:

". . . [T]he defendants need not have notice of the particular manner in which an injury would occur; it is enough that the possibility of some accidental injury was foreseeable to the ordinarily prudent person." (emphasis added).

The announcement of the above rule expressly and directly conflicts with decisions of the Florida Supreme Court and district courts of appeal regarding the identical issue of when an independent intervening cause will relieve a tortfeasor from liability. The Florida Supreme Court has held and several of the district courts of appeal have adopted the view that the mere "possibility" of some injury will not suffice to impose

liability on a tortfeasor, rather there must at least be a "probability" of injury.

In the leading Florida Supreme Court decision of Cone v. Inter County Telephone & Telegraph Co., 40 So.2d 148, 149 (Fla. 1949), this Court announced the following rule of law regarding intervening causation:

"It is only when injury to a person who himself is without contributing fault has resulted directly and in ordinary natural sequence from a negligent act without the intervention of any independent efficient cause, or is such as ordinarily and naturally should have been regarded as a probable, not a mere possible, result of the negligent act, that such injured person is entitled to recover damages. . . . Conversely, when the loss is not a direct result of the negligent act complained of. . . but is merely a possible, as distinguished from a natural and probable, result of the negligence, recovery will not be allowed. . . . 'Possible' consequences are those which happen so infrequently from the commission of a particular act, that in the field of human experience they are not expected as likely to happen again from the commission of the same act."

The principle of law stated in Cone, supra, has been adopted either expressly or impliedly by all the district courts of appeal. The Second District Court of Appeal in Greene v. Flewelling, 366 So.2d 777, 781 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978), cert. den. 374 So.2d 99 (Fla. 1979), quoting from Prosser, The Law of Torts, 241 (4th ed. 1971) stated:

"A mere possibility of causation is not enough; and when the matter remains one

of pure speculation or conjecture, or the probabilities are at best evenly balanced, it becomes the duty of the court to direct a verdict for the defendant."

The Third District Court of Appeal has also adopted the principle of law announced in Cone as evidenced by its decision in Stahl v. Metropolitan Dade County, 438 So.2d 14, 19 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). The court stated:

"Florida courts, in accord with courts throughout the country, have for good reason been most reluctant to attach tort liability for results which, although caused-in-fact by the defendant's negligent act or omission, seen to the judicial mind highly unusual, extraordinary, bizarre, or, stated differently, seen beyond the scope of any fair assessment of the danger created by the defendant's negligence."

The Third District Court of Appeal then went on to quote the exact language from Cone, supra, distinguishing between probable consequences, for which liability will lie, and merely possible consequences, for which no liability will attach. (Id at 20).

The principle of law announced by the First District Court of Appeal in the case at bar is also in express conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal. The Second District Court of Appeal has adopted the distinction between probable and possible consequences first enunciated in Cone, supra. As recently as last year the Second District Court of Appeal, in Roberts v. James, 447 So.2d 947, 950 (Fla. 2d

DCA 1984), citing to Cone, supra, stated:

". . .then because of the intervening act of another. . . there would also have to be evidence that appellee's resulting injury was the natural and probable consequence of appellant's violation of the rule before appellee could prevail." (emphasis in original).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal has also followed the principle of law set forth in Cone, supra, a recent example of which is found in Firestone Tire and Rubber Company v. Lippincott, 383 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) where the court stated:

"The consequences that a prudent man would anticipate as likely to result from an act are those consequences that happen so frequently that they may be expected to happen again and are, therefore, probable consequences. (Cites omitted). Foreseeable consequences are not 'what might possibly occur'." (Cites omitted)

It should also be noted that the First District Court of Appeal in the case at bar cites Crislip v. Holland, supra, as "authority" for the stated principle that the mere possibility of some accidental injury is sufficient to impose liability upon a tortfeasor. Yet a careful reading of Crislip, supra, fails to demonstrate a foundation for such a principle. Indeed, in Overby v. Wille, 411 So.2d 1331 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982), the Fourth District Court of Appeal cites to its decision in Crislip, supra, and yet no mention is made of the proposition that a mere possibility of accidental injury will impose liability. (Id at 1333). Indeed,

the Fourth District Court of Appeal reaffirmed the principle that:

". . . as to a loss or injury which is not a direct result of the negligent act, recovery will not be allowed if the injury was only 'possible' as opposed to 'probable.'" (Citing Guice v. Enfinger, 389 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980)). (emphasis in original).

This court established a general principle of law in Cone, supra, in 1949. Since that time, every district court in the state has adopted and utilized that principle, applying its standards and definitions to distinguish between "probable" and "possible" results on the issue of intervening causation. Without fail, this long history of court decisions has held that the mere "possibility" of accidental injury will not suffice to impose liability on a tortfeasor. By holding that the mere possibility of injury is sufficient to establish foreseeability the First District Court of Appeal has rejected or deviated from a sound and long-established rule of law.

We, therefore, respectfully submit to this Court that the above-stated principle of law expressly conflicts with a general principle of law established by this Court and the other district courts of appeal.

1(b). The decision by the First District Court of Appeal announces a rule of law that conflicts with a rule previously

announced by the Supreme Court.

The First District Court of Appeal announced a new definition of proximate cause, in direct conflict with that adopted by this Court in In re: Standard Jury Instructions, supra. At page 3 of its majority decision, the First District Court of Appeal wrote:

"The term 'proximate cause' (or 'legal cause', in the language of the standard jury instructions) consists of two essential elements: (1) causation in fact, and (2) foreseeability."

The above rule of law expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's holding in In re: Standard Jury Instructions, supra. There, Florida Standard Jury Instruction 5.1(a) was adopted, which states:

"Negligence is a legal cause of [loss] [injury] [or] [damage] if it directly and in natural and continuous sequence produces or contributes substantially to producing such [loss] [injury] [or] [damage], so that it can reasonably be said that, but for the negligence, the [loss] [injury] [or] [damage] would not have occurred." (emphasis added)

The First District Court of Appeal has failed to apply the definition of proximate cause as set forth by this Court. In doing so, the First District Court of Appeal omitted the "directly and in natural and continuous sequence" element of proximate cause, which has long been recognized in Florida.

In Tampa Electric Company v. Jones, 190 So. 26, 27 (Fla. 1939), this Court, speaking through Justice Buford

stated:

"A proximate cause stands next in causal relation to the effect. . . . A proximate cause produces the result in continuous sequence, and without which the result would not have occurred."

The standard set in Tampa Electric Company, supra, was cited with approval in the landmark case of Pope v. Pinkerton Hays Lumber Company, 120 So.2d 227, 229 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960), cert. den., with opinion, 127 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1961). The Supreme Court approved the Court of Appeal decision in Pope, supra, demonstrating that the First District Court of Appeal has deviated from its own definition of proximate cause in the case at bar. In Pope, that court stated:

"The proximate cause of an injury is that cause which, in natural and continuous sequence, unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, produces the injury, and without which the result would not have occurred." (emphasis added).

This principle is applied almost verbatim in more recent cases. In Sardell v. Malanio, 202 So.2d 746, 747, conformed to 202 So. 2d 872 (Fla. 1967) this Court held that:

". . . [t]o constitute proximate cause, there must be such a natural, direct and continuous sequence between the negligent act and the injury that it can reasonably be said but for the act the injury would not have occurred."

This Court's pronouncement in Pope has persevered through time and to this day, persists as the model by which negligence cases are determined in Florida. The

First District Court of Appeal has deviated from this working definition of proximate cause by omitting the "natural and continuous sequence" provision as expressed in Florida Standard Jury Instruction 5.1(a) and relevant case law.

It is precisely this aspect of proximate cause which is lacking in the case at bar. By omitting the required language from its working definition of proximate cause, the First District Court of Appeal has strained to find a way to reverse Summary Judgment and at the same time has stated a principle of law directly in conflict with that stated by the Supreme Court and the other district courts of appeal.

CONCLUSION

For the First District Court of Appeal to hold that the mere possibility of injury will suffice to impose liability upon a tortfeasor is to announce a rule of law expressly and directly in conflict with the rule previously announced by this Court in Cone, supra.

The First District Court of Appeal is also in express and direct conflict with a previous decision by this Court by failing to apply the correct definition of proximate cause, as set out in Florida Standard Jury Instruction 5.1(a) and adopted by In re: Standard Jury Instructions, 198 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1967).

The First District Court of Appeal has created a "real and embarrassing conflict of opinion and authority" as that phrase was used in Ansin v. Thurston, 101 So.2d 808, 811 (Fla. 1958). It was to resolve conflicts in cases such as this that Article III(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution granted to this Court conflict jurisdiction. We respectfully request this Court to accept jurisdiction over this matter.



RONALD W. BROOKS, ESQUIRE
Brooks & Callahan, Chtd.
863 East Park Avenue
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 222-1811
Attorney for Appellant,
STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT
OF TRANSPORTATION