IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

APPEAL NO. AT-276
CASE NO. 67,599

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT :
OF TRANSPORTATION, an agency :
of the State of Florida, :

Petitioner/Appellee, :

vs. :

CLEOPATRA GAYLE ANGLIN :
and THOMAS P. ANGLIN, her :
husband, :

Respondents/Appellants. :
_____ :

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BILL WHITAKER and
KARL O. KOEPKE, of
WHITAKER AND KOEPKE, Chartered
45 West Washington Street
Orlando, Florida 32801
Attorneys for Respondents
Telephone: (305) 843-2222

I N D E X

	<u>PAGE</u>
CITATION OF AUTHORITIES	ii
STATEMENT OF CASE AND THE FACTS	1
ARGUMENT	3
CONCLUSION	8

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner/Appellee, STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, seeks to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal (A. 1-10) based upon Petitioner's belief that the decision is in conflict with prior decisions of this Court and other District Courts of Appeal. The decision of the First District Court of Appeal is not in express and direct conflict with the cases cited by Petitioner or any Florida case on the same question of law. Therefore, this Court lacks jurisdiction to review the District Court's decision.

The facts as they pertain to this brief are set forth in the First District Court of Appeal decision as follows:

"On the night of September 3, 1979, Cleopatra Anglin, her husband, and her brother were traveling through drizzling rain in a 1965 Chevrolet pickup truck. Upon crossing a Seaboard Coastline Railroad track on Alternate U.S. 27 in rural Polk County, they unexpectedly hit an accumulation of water that covered both lanes of travel and was approximately six inches deep. The truck motor was doused with water, sputtered for some distance after hitting the pool of water, and then died. The Anglins attempted to start the motor by pushing the truck down the road and then 'popping' the clutch

once the truck reached a moderate speed. Approximately fifteen minutes after their truck hit the water, during which time they attempted in vain to push-start the truck several times, a car driven by Edward DuBose passed the Anglin truck heading in the opposite direction. A short distance after passing the truck, which was still on the road and, according to some witnesses, still being pushed, Mr. DuBose turned his car around and headed back toward the truck to render assistance. Unfortunately, Mr. DuBose failed to timely see the truck, hit his brakes, slid into the rear of the truck, and pinned Mrs. Anglin between the two vehicles, causing injury resulting in amputation of both legs. The distance between the pool of water and the accident scene was estimated by some witnesses as approximately 200 yards, by others up to three-tenths of a mile."

The First District Court of Appeal on July 2, 1985, reversed the trial court's granting of summary judgment. The Petitioner filed a Motion for Rehearing and, in the alternative, Motion for Rehearing En Banc. On August 7, 1985, the First District Court of Appeal denied Petitioner's motion. Notice to invoke discretionary review was filed by Petitioner on September 5, 1985.

A R G U M E N T

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IS IN EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT WITH A DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OR THE SUPREME COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal does not expressly and directly conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the Florida Supreme Court on the same question of law.

The opinion of the First District Court of Appeal is not in express and direct conflict on the same question of law with any of the cases cited. The First District Court of Appeal held:

...a tortfeasor is liable for all damages proximately caused by his negligence. The term "proximate cause" ... consists of two essential elements: (1) causation in fact, and (2) foreseeability.... Causation in fact is often characterized in terms of a "but for" test, i.e., but for the defendant's negligence, the resulting damages would not have occurred. In the present case, there is no question as to causation in fact because "but for" the defendants' alleged negligence in causing the pooling of water on the highway, there would have been no accidental stopping of plaintiff's truck and resulting injury. (Emphasis added).

The second element of proximate cause, foreseeability, is, unlike causation in fact, a concept established through considerations of public policy and fairness whereby a defendant whose conduct factually 'caused' damages may nevertheless be relieved of liability for those damages. Thus, proximate cause may be found lacking where the type of damage or injury that occurred is not within the scope of danger or risk created by the defendant's negligence and, thus, not a reasonably foreseeable

result thereof.... It is not necessary, however, that the defendants "be able to foresee the exact nature and extent of the injuries or the precise manner in which the injuries occur"; all that is necessary to liability is that "the tortfeasor be able to foresee that some injury will likely result in some manner as a consequence of his negligent acts."... In the instant case, it cannot be said as a matter of law that an injury to plaintiff was not within the scope of danger or risk arising out of the alleged negligence. In the field of human experience, one should expect that negligently permitting a pool of water on an open highway would likely pose a substantial hazard to motorists because a vehicle crashing unexpectedly into the water is likely to experience a stalled motor or other difficulty causing the vehicle to stop on the highway, thereby subjecting its occupants to the risk of injury from collision by other cars. Gibson v. Avis Rent-A-Car System, Inc., supra. (Emphasis added).

Proximate cause may be found lacking, however, where an unforeseeable force or action occurring independently of the original negligence causes the injury or damage. This force or action is commonly referred to as an "independent, efficient intervening cause."... For the original negligent actor to be relieved of liability under this doctrine, however, the intervening cause must be "efficient," i.e., truly independent of and not "set in motion" by the original negligence....

...If an intervening cause is reasonably foreseeable, the negligent defendants may be held liable.... Whether an intervening cause is foreseeable is ordinarily for the trier of fact to decide. Id.; Crislip v. Holland, supra. Only if reasonable persons could not differ as to the total absence of evidence to support any inference that the intervening cause was foreseeable may the court determine the issue as a matter of law. Padgett, 417 So.2d at 768; Overby v. Wille, 411 So.2d 1331, 1332 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).... The plaintiffs' exposure to danger was created by defendants' negligence, and the fact that a collision might occur while plaintiffs were extricating themselves from such danger up to fifteen minutes later presents a jury issue on foreseeability. Gibson v. Avis Rent-A-Car System, Inc., supra; Loftin v.

McCranie, supra. That is so because the defendant need not have notice of the particular manner in which an injury would occur; it is enough that the possibility of some accidental injury was foreseeable to the ordinarily prudent person. Crislip v. Holland, 401 So.2d 1118.

This is a correct statement of the Florida law. The First District Court of Appeal held that "but for" the negligence of defendants the accident would not have occurred. There was no question as to causation in fact. The injury was foreseeable to the ordinarily prudent person. One should expect that negligently permitting a pool of water on an open highway would likely pose a substantial hazard to motorists because a vehicle crashing unexpectedly into the water is likely to experience a stalled motor or other difficulty causing the vehicle to stop on the highway, thereby subjecting its occupants to the risk of injury from collision by other cars.

The First District Court of Appeal's opinion upholds the decisions cited by Petitioner and there is no express or direct conflict on the same question of law. The opinion in Anglin covers all the language contained in the cases cited by Petitioner. The opinion does not directly and expressly conflict with the Florida Standard Jury Instructions and does not create a new definition of "proximate cause." The court was not attempting to use every word of the law but points out causation and foreseeability. The 'but for' test meets the "natural and continuous consequence" test.

The Petitioner has taken one word out of the opinion, "possibility", and based on the appearance of that one word says that the decision is in express and direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal or the supreme court. This is not true. The use of the word "possibility" does not change the holding of the court. As stated above, the court held that the accident and injuries would not have occurred "but for" the negligence of the defendant and that the the injury was foreseeable to the ordinarily prudent person. Also, the Petitioner argues that because the words "directly and in natural and continuous sequence" do not appear in the opinion that a direct and express conflict exists. This is not true. The court utilized the "but for" test. The court recognizes that a mere possibility is not sufficient based on the "but for" test and found that the instant case met all the requirements for causation and foreseeability. The opinion properly expresses the Florida law and is not in express and direct conflict with the cases cited.

The First District Court of Appeal in its statement that:

... [T]he defendants need not have notice of the particular manner in which an injury would occur; it is enough that the possibility of some accidental injury was foreseeable to the ordinarily prudent person.

correctly states the law of the State of Florida. Authority for same is Crislip v. Holland, 401 So.2d 1115 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), rev. den. 411 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1981), wherein they quoted Palsgraff v. Long Island Railway Co., 248 N.Y. 339, 162 N.E. 99 (NY Ct. of App. 1928) at Page 1118:

...It was not necessary that the defendant should have notice of the particular method in which an accident would occur, if the possibility of an accident was clear to the ordinarily prudent eye.... (emphasis added)

and went on to say:


...although the City might not have foreseen the precise manner of the plaintiff's injuries, the possibility of an accident occurring in some fashion similar to that which occasioned the plaintiff's injuries was obvious to the 'ordinarily prudent eye'. Hence, we find nothing in the 'Palsgraff test of foreseeability' to be repugnant to the outcome of this case.